University of Texas at El Paso ScholarWorks@UTEP

Open Access Theses & Dissertations

2023-05-01

Exploring the Mediating Link Between Stressful Life Events, Adverse Psychological Effects, and IPV Victimization

Valeria Torres-Rivera University of Texas at El Paso

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.utep.edu/open_etd

Part of the Criminology Commons, and the Criminology and Criminal Justice Commons

Recommended Citation

Torres-Rivera, Valeria, "Exploring the Mediating Link Between Stressful Life Events, Adverse Psychological Effects, and IPV Victimization" (2023). *Open Access Theses & Dissertations*. 3861. https://scholarworks.utep.edu/open_etd/3861

EXPLORING THE MEDIATING LINK BETWEEN STRESSFUL LIFE EVENTS, ADVERSE PSYCHOLOGICAL EFFECTS, AND IPV VICTIMIZATION

VALERIA TORRES-RIVERA

Master's Program in Criminology and Criminal Justice

APPROVED:

Egbert Zavala, Ph.D., Chair

Mario Cano, Ph.D.

Jillian Turanovic, Ph.D.

Stephen L. Crites, Jr., Ph.D. Dean of the Graduate School Copyright ©

by Valeria Torres - Rivera 2023

EXPLORING THE MEDIATING LINK BETWEEN STRESSFUL LIFE EVENTS, ADVERSE PSYCHOLOGICAL EFFECTS, AND IPV VICTIMIZATION

by

VALERIA TORRES-RIVERA, B.A

THESIS

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of

The University of Texas at El Paso

in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements

for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Criminal Justice

THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT EL PASO

May 2023

Abstract

Purpose: Research has established that violent victimization is influenced by a variety of life events and psychological effects. However, limited research has examined this relationship with a specific type of victimization, such as intimate partner violence (IPV). To fill this gap in the literature, this study aims to test whether stressful life conditions induce adverse psychological effects on a person, which then may lead to IPV victimization. **Methods:** To test this, a series of regression analyses are conducted. Data from the American subsample of the *International Dating Violence Study (n* = 4,162) are analyzed to test the link between stressful life conditions, adverse psychological effects, and IPV victimization. **Results:** Stressful life events induce adverse psychological effects on a person, which did lead to IPV victimization. While results indicate that depressive symptoms do not mediate the relationship, post-traumatic stress symptoms (PTSS) do. **Conclusion:** Ultimately, this study highlights the need to further understand the mediating mechanisms of victimization. An implication can be that IPV victimization may be minimized by reducing stressful life events in a person's life. Potential explanations and future directions are discussed.

Table of Contents

Abstract	iv
Table of Contents	V
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
The Present Study	3
Chapter 2: Literature Review	4
Silver and Kelsay's Theoretical Framework	4
Mediating Factors Between Victimization	5
Stressful Life Conditions and Victimization	6
Psychological Effects	7
PTSD	8
Depression	9
Victimization and IPV	10
Victimization	
Intimate Partner Violence	11
Theories: Target Congruence and Precocious Exists	13
Target Congruence	
Precocious Exits	15
Chapter 3: Current Study and Hypotheses	17
Chapter 4: Methods and Data	19
Dependent Variable	20
Independent Variable	21
Mediating Variables	21
Control Variables:	
Demographic Variables	24
Analytical Plan	24
Chapter 5: Results	26
Chapter 6: Discussion	
Limitations	

Chapter 7: Conclusion	41
References	42
Vita	51

Chapter 1: Introduction

Although the direct association between stressful life events and violent victimization has been well established by prior research (Brown & Fite, 2016; Eitle & Turner, 2002), less is known about why the relationship exists. That is, the causal mechanism that links stressful life events to violent victimization is still relatively underdeveloped. Understanding this gap in the literature, Silver and Kelsay (2021) presented a theoretical framework in which they argue that the mediating properties of adverse psychological effects (i.e., depression, PTSD, etc.) mediate the association between stressful life events and victimization. Specifically, Silver and Kelsay (2021) proposed that stressful life events induce adverse psychological effects on a person, leading to their personal victimization. This notion does have support in prior studies. For example, the available literature has found that stressful life events can result in severe psychological, behavioral, and health outcomes (Resick, 1987; Boudreaux et al., 1998; Britt, 2001; Dutton et al., 2006; Bouffard & Koeppel, 2014; Brown & Fite, 2016; Flanagan et al., 2014; Stubbs & Szoeke, 2021; Silver & Kelsay, 2021). Nevertheless, the long-term effects and pathways that cause such effects are frequently disregarded, leaving significant research gaps in the literature (Bouffard & Koeppel, 2014; Dutton et al., 2006; Stubbs & Szoeke, 2021).

While Silver and Kelsay's (2021) theoretical framework is still in its infancy, there are still several venues for research. For instance, this theoretical model has not been applied to a type of victimization frequent in nature and experienced by many people worldwide: intimate partner violence (IPV). This theoretical framework may be especially pertinent in explaining IPV victimization. First, studies have shown that various life stressors are linked to IPV. For example, as explained by Brown & Fite (2016), peer victimization appears to increase after stressful life events have occurred, and exposure to such events increases the risk of being victimized.

Second, theoretical and empirical justifications exist for why psychological symptoms and victimization may be correlated. Studies have documented that victims of IPV acquire adverse psychological effects such as depression, PTSD, and anxiety (Stubbs & Szoeke, 2021; Flanagan al., 2014; Hochstetler et al., 2014; Dutton et al., 2006; Webermann et al., 2020). In addition to reporting poor health and increased physical symptoms because of IPV exposure, depression and anxiety are symptoms many battered women have experienced (Dutton et al., 2016). Third, several studies have supported the notion that people with adverse psychological effects are more likely to report higher rates of victimization, while mental illness has been associated with both arrest and victimization (Dutton et al., 2006; Sandberg et al., 2019; Swearer et al., 2001; White et al., 2006). On the same note, Silver (2002) found that individuals with mental disorders are more likely to be victimized by violence; similarly, having a mental illness increases the likelihood of being in a conflictive relationship, which increases the risk of violent victimization. Yet, research on the psychological mechanisms behind IPV, particularly the mediating effects, is still needed and could potentially be beneficial for understanding this social health problem.

Based on the Bureau of Justice Statistics report, there was a 45% to 58% increase in IPV reported to the police between 2018- 2019, and IPV is accountable for 15% of violent crimes (Truman & Morgan, 2014; Morgan & Oudekerk, 2019). Nonetheless, a gap between the IPV pathway that leads to adverse health effects and long-term consequences remains understudied (Dutton et al., 2006; Stubbs & Szoeke, 2021). Because previous studies have found that IPV victimization can lead to adverse psychological effects, among other negative consequences, it is thus vital that scholars continue to understand the correlates and mechanisms behind this social problem (Dutton et al., 2006; Hochstetler et al., 2014). Exploring this part of research is vital to

expand the knowledge on IPV victimization, enhance response from a criminal justice standpoint, and improve victim services interventions. More research can also contribute to understanding predictors of IPV with the hope of offering solutions for future prevention and education. Therefore, the current study will contribute to the existing literature by examining the link between IPV victimization and adverse psychological effects. Second, this study will expand on current literature gaps pertaining to IPV victimization. Lastly, conducting this research is important as it seeks to understand the mechanisms of IPV further.

The Present Study

Using the American subsample of the International Dating Violence Study (n = 4,162), the primary aim of this study is to explore the pathways between IPV victimization and adverse health outcomes. To properly develop effective interventions and prevention of IPV, we must understand further the pathways to adverse psychological effects, especially considering that not all victims develop such effects (Dutton et al., 2006). Given the links between prior victimization, stressful life events, and psychological effects of future victimization, the purpose of the current study has implications for determining whether similar findings from violent victimization are found in IPV victimization through the exposure of post-traumatic stress symptoms (PTSS) and depressive symptoms.

This goal is conducted in the following steps. First, this thesis begins with a brief review of the indirect framework developed by Silver and Kelsay (2021). Second, a review of the literature on victimology, stressful life events, and IPV is explored, followed by target congruency and precocious exits theories to present the hypotheses that will be tested. Then, the data set and analytical plan are presented. Finally, the study will conclude with a general discussion of the results, limitations, and proposals for future research.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Silver and Kelsay's Theoretical Framework

Previous research has established an indirect link between stressful life events and victimization, yet little is known about the mediating pathway of victimization (Brown & Fite, 2016; Swearer et al., 2001). However, Kretschmer (2016) conducted a study to examine peer victimization in adolescence and later outcomes. Based on the findings, emotional states and symptoms appeared to be the typical mediation between peer victimization (Kretschmer, 2016). Still, limited research has looked at the pathway from exposure to various stressful life events to victimization through acquired psychological effects (Silver & Kelsay, 2021).

To further contribute to closing the gap in the literature, Silver and Kelsay (2021) studied the relationship between several stressful life events and subsequent victimization, as well as previous victimization and subsequent victimization. To do this, an indirect pathway was hypothesized to determine whether acquired psychological symptoms are linked to stressful life events and victimization. They argued that individuals under stressful life conditions are more likely to experience psychological symptoms, and as a result, their odds of violent victimization increase. Although some mediating elements have been established before, particularly between risky behaviors and victimization, this framework expands on known and unidentified mediating factors (Iratzoqui, 2018; Silver & Kelsay, 2021). In summary, higher adverse psychological effects increased the risk of violent acts, while previous violent victimization increased the probability of future victimization. The authors found support for their framework, specifically with the proposition that various stressful life events and prior victimization affect future victimization, and the mediating pathway between that relationship involves adverse psychological effects (Silver & Kelsay, 2021). Such findings, however, are limited to general

victimization, leaving the question of whether this theoretical framework can account for a particular type of victimization like IPV that is more frequent in nature. Because of this, the framework developed by Silver & Kelsay (2021) will serve as the primary framework in this thesis. But because routine activities theory was the primary theoretical standpoint on the relationship between stressful life events and violent victimization, I will focus on other theories that are suitable for IPV: target congruence and precocious exits.

Mediating Factors Between Victimization

Mediating factors are a causal sequence between two variables, usually from the effect of an independent variable to a dependent variable. In short, explaining the mechanism of how one variable influences another variable can be done through a mediating approach. This method also considers the effect of a third variable by a relationship of the other variables. The main idea is that internal processes mediate the effects between the independent and dependent variables (Baron & Kenny, 1986). For example, Flanagan et al. (2014) filled a gap in research on the mediating role of coping strategies on both mental health and victimization. As found, avoidance mediated the relationship between IPV, depression, and drug use. Another study found PTSD to mediate significantly between exposure to violence and health outcomes (Dutton et al., 2006). A previous relationship might be better understood by examining mediating variables; if it is not evident how a third variable affects a relationship, additional problems may be found. In this case, it would be harder to develop effective interventions without fully understanding the pathway between IPV and adverse health outcomes.

To further expand the use of mediating variables, a study analyzed 65 articles regarding mediating pathways of peer victimization to understand why peer victimization is connected to social, behavioral development, and emotional problems (Kretschmer, 2016). Although the large

number of studies made it challenging to summarize all the outcomes and mediators, significant findings were found. For instance, higher rates of conflicts in friendships were found in victimized adolescents, which increased their risk for externalizing problems, while victims of bullying perceived higher risk of psychological distress (Kretschmer, 2016; You & Bellmore, 2012). Even though few studies have developed a link between behavior and stressful conditions, little is known about the mediating pathway of victimization and neuropsychological symptoms (Iratzoqui, 2018; Silver & Kelsay, 2021; Swearer et al., 2001). But in Silver and Kelsay's theoretical framework, the mediating effects of adverse psychological effects on the link between stressful life events and violent victimization filled a gap in this part of the research. Additionally, Silver (2002) concluded that conflicted relationships mediate the effect of mental disorders on violent victimization.

Stressful Life Conditions and Victimization

Coincidently, there appears to be a correlation between stressful life events and victimization (Brown & Fite, 2016; Eitle & Turner, 2002; Silver & Kelsay, 2021). But because such findings are primarily targeted at peer and violent victimization, stressful life events and their association with subsequent IPV victimization through adverse psychological effects need more research. To start, stressful life conditions are life-altering situations with a significantly negative impact because they entail considerable changes necessary to manage and adapt to the changes and stress (Brown & Fite, 2016; Silver & Kelsay, 2021). Hence, they involve significant and rapid changes in an individual's life. According to previous research, a traumatic event becomes central to one's identity because they mark a crucial turning point in life (Webermann et al., 2020). To clarify, this event centrality is caused by a traumatic event. This is also prevalent in the case of survivors of IPV, as event centrality is associated with PTSS.

Indeed, research has linked the experience of stressful life events and prior victimization to future victimization, and such conditions have both behavioral and mental consequences (Brown & Fite, 2016; Eitle & Turner, 2002). For example, exposure to stressful life events was positively connected with high anxiety symptoms, which enhanced the likelihood of being subsequently victimized (Brown & Fite, 2016). To continue, Dutton et al. (2006) found that higher depression is associated with a traumatic experience, yet not much is known about the pathway that leads to more problems. As I mentioned earlier, to address this gap, Kelsay and Silver (2021) found that exposure to various stressful life situations and violent victimization can affect psychological symptoms and lead to more violent victimization. Recall that Silver & Kelsay (2021) argued that people under stressful life conditions are more likely to acquire psychological symptoms, which increases the odds of violent victimization. However, their findings mainly aim at general violent victimization, disregarding specific types of victimization. More specifically, the results do not generalize to victimization within intimate partner violence. With that limitation in mind, this paper will focus on one main research question: are adverse psychological effects mediating the association between stressful life conditions and IPV victimization? Most importantly, to contribute to the gap in the literature, this paper aims to expand on Silver and Kelsay's victimization framework to test whether similar results of violent victimization will be found in IPV victimization.

Psychological Effects

Notably, previous work has shown a mediating role between mental health disorders and victimization. Victimization is linked to various psychological and associated issues, such as depression, anxiety, poor quality of life, and increased risk for injury (Hochstetler et al., 2014; Graham et al., 2019). Overall, victims of general forms of victimization have a variety of long-

term impacts, including fear, anxiety, lower physical well-being, depression, PTSD, and sometimes increased risk of chronic disease (Resick, 1987; Britt, 2001; Dutton et al., 2006; Breiding et al., 2008; Choi et al., 2021). Particularly, psychological literature has continuously found strong support for the relationship between IPV and psychological stress (Yim & Kofman, 2019). Although much attention has been given to studying psychological ramifications, research over the past 20 years has demonstrated the mental health burden of IPV trauma; however, there are empirical and theoretical ties between victimization and psychological symptoms that have not yet been thoroughly explored (Dutton et al., 2006; Hochstetler et al., 2014; Cava et al., 2021).

The World Health Organization states that violence against women affects their mental, physical, and reproductive health. (World Health Organization [WHO], 2021). The likelihood of reporting depression, suicidality, substance abuse, and post-traumatic stress disorder is 3 to 5 times among women with an IPV history (Dutton et al., 2006). Victims also tend to acquire increased emotional distress, loneliness, and anxiety, and violence is more likely to be perpetrated against someone with a mental health illness (Swearer et al., 2001; Silver, 2002). Another psychological effect, anxiety, has demonstrated a prospective relation between attachment anxiety and subsequent IPV victimization (Sandberg et al., 2019). Collectively, based on previous research, one can conclude that behavioral mechanisms (i.e., adverse psychological effects) lead to victimization, but further testing is needed.

PTSD

Undoubtedly, becoming a victim can be a dreadful and terrifying experience that creates an aftermath of concerns. Even after leaving abusive relationships, stress exposure continues and is likely to worsen (Yim & Kofman, 2019). Therefore, a link between victimization and

psychological effects can be supported based on previous research. To explain, research suggests that crime victims are more likely to suffer from PTSD, and IPV victims have identified PTSD as an expected consequence (Boudreaux et al., 1998; Dutton et al., 2006; Cattaneo et al., 2007). Although violence is known to cause problems, the correlates and effects of long-term exposure are not well understood. Yim and Kofman (2019), who sought to investigate the psychological correlates of IPV exposure, presented compelling evidence between psychological stress and IPV. The findings provided a strong positive correlation between IPV and psychological stress, and this stress follows instances of IPV (Yim & Kofman, 2019).

Further, Dutton et al. (2006) stated that depression is the major comorbid disorder with PTSD in more than 50% of women. Research has suggested that PTSD might mediate the relationship between victimization and other disorders (Boudreaux et al., 1998). Understanding their relationship is necessary since depression is a typical psychological response, and many effects of IPV exposure are linked to PTSD (Dutton et al., 2006). Research has found that psychological symptoms, environmental dangers, and antisocial behavior provide evidence for the relationship between stressful life circumstances and victimization, whereas it is unclear what mechanisms underlie the association between PTSD and depression (Pratt et al., 2014; Yim & Kofman, 2019; Silver & Kelsay, 2021).

Depression

Aside from the risk and consequences of PTSD, a significant danger for victims is developing depression. This notion is supported by past research. Indeed, peer victimization has been strongly related to depression; victims have been found to experience more emotional distress, internalizing behavior, and higher rates of depression (Swearer et al., 2001; Sweeting et al., 2006). Additionally, victims typically possess lower self-esteem and experience more

loneliness, anxiety, and depression than non-victimized individuals (Swearer et al., 2001). Similarly, Breiding et al. (2008) found that men and women have suffered substantial health implications from IPV, including poor overall health and depressive symptoms. Furthermore, Sweeting (et al., 2006) found a strong path from victimization to depression after studying the association between victimization and distress.

Accordingly, about 60% of women with severe depression have also reported being abused by an intimate partner (Dutton et al., 2006). On the other hand, interpersonal stressors, such as peer victimization, are likely to produce depressive and social anxiety symptoms (Hamilton et al., 2016). Meanwhile, depression was a strong predictor of victimization, making it easier to be a target (Sweeting et al., 2006). The impacts are also influenced by how frequently one is exposed to violence. Recent research has found that victims of partner violence have a higher risk of continued victimization (Kuhl et al., 2015). When Dutton et al. (2006) investigated the impact of IPV continuity across a year, they discovered higher rates of depression. This was not unexpected because being victimized once increased the likelihood of being victimized again, and all the adverse outcomes and effects previously mentioned may be worse for those victims (Fagan & Mazerolle, 2011; Turanovic & Pratt, 2014).

Victimization and IPV

Victimization

Despite a declining trajectory in crime rates, victimization in the United States is still a significant concern (Bouffard & Koeppe, 2014). The number of violent victimizations in the nation grew by 18% between 2010 and 2011, from 4.9 million to 5.8 million. (Truman & Planty, 2015). As previously noted, the act of victimization can be a dreadful and terrifying experience that creates an aftermath of concerns, including psychological distress like depression, PTSD,

and anxiety (Dutton et al., 2006; Sweeting et al., 2006). Because of this, it is essential to understand and identify risk factors for being victimized (Silver & Kelsay, 2021). A primary introduction to victimization theory began with Cohen and Felson's (1979) routine activities theory, and previous research has noted that risky routines predict violent victimization; although victimization comes in various forms, some do not require engaging in risky lifestyles (Baron et al., 2007; Turanovic et al., 2015). Regardless, exposure to violence has detrimental effects and lasting consequences, but effects vary on the context in which the violence occurred; for example, violence in intimate relationships is more likely to create negative developmental implications than violence in the hands of strangers or friends (Haynie et al., 2009).

Prior research has focused on the perspective and motivation of the offender; however, victimization research has developed a new focus on victims' rights. This new study technique allows for a greater focus on victimization experiences and repercussions for those victims, as well as their consequences and impacts on vulnerability and quality of life. Hence, current research has led to an important conclusion: prior victimization is the best single predictor of victimization as it tends to reoccur quickly (Pease, 1998; Bybee & Sullivan, 2005; Dolliver et al., 2022). Victimization is a complex and diverse field of study with numerous experiences; however, much of the focus is on exposure to violence in neighborhood and street contexts. Thus, it is essential to consider additional exposure in other contexts, specifically romantic or intimate relationships (Haynie et al., 2009).

Intimate Partner Violence

Verbal, physical, sexual, and psychological abuse, along with stalking, coercion, and extreme violence with the threat of weapons, are types of violence and behavior inflicted by IPV (Basile et al., 2011; Kimber et al., 2018; Fissel et al., 2021). Although IPV is the most common

form of violence against women, it occurs in various settings, including socioeconomic, religious, cultural, and same-sex partnerships (WHO, 2012). Despite being difficult to measure, IPV is usually approached as a social problem, a public health concern, or a criminal victimization (Waltermaurer, 2005). Moreover, it can be perpetrated by a boyfriend, girlfriend, spouse, ex, or dating partner. Based on a report on violence trends, IPV made up 20% of all nonfatal violent crimes experienced by women in 2001 (Rennison, 2003). In their nonfatal domestic violence report, Truman & Morgan (2014) found that when compared to the rate of violence by family members and other relatives, the rate of IPV was greater. According to statistics, there was a 45% to 58% increase in IPV reported to the police between 2018-2019 (Morgan & Oudekerk, 2019). In addition, men and women have suffered substantial health implications from IPV, including poor overall health and depressive symptoms; more specifically, around 1 in 4 women and 1 in 7 men have reported IPV victimization in their lifetime (Breiding et al., 2008).

Assuredly, this sort of violence affects social and public health. Combined medical and mental health costs result in an estimated annual cost of \$5.8 billion in the U.S. (Breiding et al., 2008). The National Violence Against Women Survey found that about 1.5 million females and 830,000 males are sexually or physically assaulted each year in America, and such findings highlight the severity of this criminal justice and public health concern (Tjaden, 2000; Lipsky et al., 2005). Also, a 2018 analysis contributed to the scope of the problem by finding that, worldwide, 1 in 3 women have experienced physical and sexual violence (WHO, 2021). Still, little is understood about IPV despite its prevalence and detrimental consequences, especially the mediation process between victimization and psychological effects on future victimization. Yim and Kofman (2019) highlight the need for future research to understand how IPV affects victims

biologically and psychologically and how such effects are influenced over time. In sum, a wellestablished link between victimization and adverse health problems has been found, but the mechanisms underlying this association remain unknown (Bouffard & Koeppel, 2014; Yim & Kofman, 2019). To treat, prevent, and improve services for those victimized, it is necessary to understand this issue from various angles, beginning with its mediating factors and causes more effectively. Shedding a light on IPV among college students, using the International Dating Violence Survey, Straus (2004) found that 4% to 20% of college students experienced violence perpetrated by a partner. In that regard, it is necessary to continue researching such experiences to understand the underlying causes of IPV in order to improve intervention methods and guide policy to help victims.

Theories: Target Congruence and Precocious Exists

Target Congruence

Many theories focus on the direct link between unpleasant environmental circumstances and victimization, and routine activities theory has been a traditional method of explaining victimization risk (Cohen & Felson, 1979; Silver & Kelsay, 2021). From the perspective of Silver and Kelsay's (2021) theoretical framework, stressful life events and prior victimization cause a likelihood of victimization due to changes in routine activities (Silver & Kelsay, 2021; Finkelhor et al., 2007). On the other hand, the effects of self-control on repeat victimization are fully mediated by changes in risky lifestyles (Turanovic & Pratt, 2014). But because this paper looks at intimate partner violence, it is essential to consider a theory applicable to explain intimate partner victimization or other forms of family violence, especially one that considers emotional abuse and violence regardless of the victim's lifestyle (Finkelhor & Asdigian, 1996; Zavala, 2018). To determine who is at greater risk of becoming a victim, Finkelhor and Asdigian

(1996) argued that an offender judges an individual to be a suitable or easy target. Because it has been noted that victims of IPV develop psychological and health outcomes (Dutton et al., 2006; Swearer et al., 2001; Sweeting et al., 2006), chances are their vulnerability increases, which can be further explained by target congruence theory.

To explain peer victimization, empirical evidence strongly supports combining the lifestyle-routine activities approach with target congruence (Park & Cho, 2021). Unlike routine activities, target congruence theory determines victimization risk through individual characteristics and attributes. Because routine activities theory lacks an explanation of the characteristics of victims, target congruence theory argues that perpetrators determine whether a possible target might be susceptible to victimization based on characteristics or traits (Finkelhor & Asdigian, 1996; Zavala, 2018). Here, what makes someone or something suitable is left unanswered in routine activities theory. To determine whether a target is "suitable," target congruence theory argues that offenders look at the victim's vulnerability, gratifiability, and antagonism (Finkelhor & Asdigian, 1996). Target vulnerability describes victim characteristics that may increase their risk (e.g., physical weakness, psychological problems, etc.), target gratifiability refers to the qualities, possessions, skills, or attributes that an offender wants, and target antagonism refers to the behaviors and characteristics that increase impulses, anger, or jealousy of the offender (Finkelhor & Asdigian, 1996; Zavala, 2018). To test whether this could be a theoretical perspective as an explanation of IPV, Sween & Reyns (2017) examined the factors of target congruency theory and found support for target gratifiability and target vulnerability. Moreover, Elvey and McNeeley (2019) also tested this theory on IPV. The results indicated that all the factors are associated with a risk of sexual and physical IPV while emphasizing the importance of target congruence in explaining victimization.

Precocious Exits

Transitions and turning points that contribute to the development, stability, and evolution of antisocial or criminal behavior through time have been the subject of research from a lifecourse perspective (Elder, 1998; Sampson & Laub, 1997; Carbone-Lopez & Miller, 2012). Likewise, one study examining whether specific or general processes lead to violent victimization across gendered pathways to crime, specifically the effects of low self-control and risky lifestyles, concluded that the processes are universal to any gendered pathway (Turanovic et al., 2015). Findings, however, were limited to specific types of victimization. Different findings are likely to emerge in "hidden" violence (e.g., IPV) because violence that does not involve engaging in risky lifestyles is underrepresented in self-control and lifestyle research (Turanovic et al., 2015, p. 200). Consequently, the lack of precocious exits neglects the role of timing and the consideration of problematic outcomes in pivotal life stages after exposure to violence (Kuhl et al., 2015; Haynie et al., 2009). Precocious exits theory explains the adaptations to stressful circumstances (i.e., exposure to violence) that create difficulties later in life (Haynie et al., 2009). This idea highlights the importance of transitions and turning points in adolescence and the long-term consequences of victimization.

In theory, the role of precocious exits are behavioral transitions that reflect how youth might be placed onto different trajectories after experiencing violence during critical periods of adolescence (Haynie et al., 2009). Although there is a limited amount of research on this and IPV, Haynie et al. (2009) contributed to the literature by finding that exposure to violence in romantic relationships increases the opportunity for role exits from adolescence; exposure to violence in romantic relationships is likely to result in long-term implications because such relationships, "Establish models of appropriate and acceptable behavior that are often recreated

in young adulthood." (O'Leary, 1988; Straus et al., 1980; Haynie et al., 2009, p. 271). More findings concluded that partner victimization is associated with all precocious role exits, such as dropping out and running away from home, except criminal justice contact (Haynie et al., 2009). In general, direct exposure to IPV had the greatest effect on the likelihood of experiencing a role exit (Haynie et al., 2009).

Chapter 3: Current Study and Hypotheses

Victimization creates devastating repercussions for those victimized, including acquiring psychological trauma. Among the psychological effects that have been found, symptoms of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) are prevalent among victims of IPV, as well as high rates of depression (Dutton et al., 2006; Cattaneo et al., 2007). Although the incidence of recurring victimization and its implications are well recognized, the specific nature of the links between victimization and psychological symptoms is less established (Hochstetler et al., 2014). Moreover, this implication is less known from a mediating properties perspective between psychological effects and victimization in IPV. Accordingly, the current study seeks to uncover whether PTSS and depression are mediating factors between stressful life conditions and IPV victimization. Based on the literature review above and the primary theoretical framework by Silver & Kelsay (2021), this study will test the following hypotheses:

Because research has shown an effect between stressful conditions and victimization, the first hypothesis is as follows:

<u>Hypothesis 1:</u> Stressful life conditions will be positively associated with IPV victimization.

Although there is limited research between stressful life events and peer victimization, extensive research suggests that IPV is associated with psychological effects, primarily depression symptoms (Brown & Fite, 2016; Dutton et al., 2006). Thus, the second hypothesis is as follows:

<u>Hypothesis 2:</u> Stressful life conditions will be positively associated with depressive symptoms.

Because PTSS are likely to develop after a traumatic or stressful condition, the third hypothesis is as follows:

<u>Hypothesis 3:</u> Stressful conditions will be positively associated with PTSS.

Silver and Kelsay (2021) found that stressful life events and violent victimization influence psychological symptoms. And because there is a high prevalence of health and psychological outcomes related to intimate partner violence, the fourth hypothesis will be tested:

<u>Hypothesis 4:</u> Adverse psychological effects (e.g., depression and PTSS) will mediate the association between stressful life events and IPV.

Chapter 4: Methods

Data:

The data for this paper were derived from the International Dating Violence Study (IDVS; Straus, 2001–2006), which was a pencil-and-paper survey among college students in 32 nations across 68 universities and aimed to collect data on the risk and protective factors of both IPV victimization and offending. Prior research using this data have been used to investigate the prevalence, consequences, and implications of IPV (Graham et al., 2019; Sabina et al., 2017; Zavala & Muniz, 2020). Students were informed about the purpose of the study, and respondents were instructed to think about their current partner or, if they were single at the time, their most recent relationship that lasted a month or longer before answering the questionnaire. By then, respondents were told that the questions would focus on their beliefs, attitudes, and experiences with sensitive topics, such as violence, abuse, and drug usage. They were assured that no personally identifiable information would be solicited. All IDVS study protocols were reviewed and approved by the universities' internal review board (IRB). Data were collected between 2001 and 2006, and the IDVS survey was administered primarily in each university's criminology, sociology, and psychology courses in each university. The response rate of students who participated and completed the survey ranged from 42% to 100%, with most participation rates between 85% to 95%. The current study focused on the United States (U.S.) subsample of 4162 participants to test hypotheses about the relationship between stressful life conditions, adverse psychological effects, and IPV victimization. This method was done to concentrate on a single cultural context and to be consistent with prior studies that have used these data (Graham et al., 2019; Powers & Kaukinen, 2020; Sabina et al., 2017; Tomsich et al., 2017; Zavala & Muniz, 2020). For more information, please see Straus (2004).

Dependent Variable

IPV victimization was measured using the Conflict Tactics Scale (CTS2; Straus et al., 1996), which has been used in the U.S. and widely across other countries to measure victimization and perpetration of IPV (Straus, 2004). Responses were based on a 1-to-8-point Likert-type scale (1 = once in the past year to 8 = this has never happened). A total of 12 questions were used to capture if respondents, in the past year, experienced physical victimization in their relationship. Respondents were asked: "my partner threw something at me that could hurt me," "my partner twisted my arm or hair," "my partner pushed or shoved me," "my partner used a knife or gun on me," "my partner punched or hit me with something that could hurt," "my partner chocked me," "my partner slammed me against a wall," "my partner beat me up," "my partner grabbed me," "my partner slapped me," "my partner burned or scaled me on purpose," and "my partner kicked me." Straus et al. (1996) noted that there are five ways of recoding and scoring the CTS2, which are "year prevalence," "chronicity," "ever prevalence," "modes," and "year frequency." I focus on "ever prevalence" in this study for two reasons. First, this study emphasizes the occurrence of violence rather than the frequency within a 12-month timeframe. Second, a continuous frequency measure had severe positive skewness, which is perhaps the reason why the "ever prevalence" is consistent with prior studies that have used these data (Lysova & Douglas, 2008; Graham et al., 2019; Luo, 2021; Lysova & Straus, 2021; Meade et al., 2017; Powers & Kaukinen, 2020; Sabina et al., 2017; Tomsich et al., 2017; Zavala & Muniz, 2020). Results were turned into a dichotomous variable starting with 1 representing at least one form of violence in the past year (answers 1 through 7 = 1) and 0 indicating no past victimization (answer 8=0) to capture the occurrence of violence (yes/no) by their partner. See Luo (2021) and Zavala and Muniz (2022) for more information.

Independent Variable

Stressful Conditions were measured using respondents' daily stresses or hassles experienced. External factors and interpersonal problems were used to evaluate the respondents' stress levels based on 9 questions using a 4-point Likert-type scale (I = strongly disagree, 4 = strongly agree). Specifically, respondents were asked: "*Finding time for meals is hard for me*," "*My housing is not satisfactory (e.g., too much noise)*," "*My friends pressure me to do things I* don't want to do," "people at work or school don't get along with me," "*My partner often nags me*," "*I get hassled because of who I am*," "People often interrupt me when I'm trying to get things done," "I don't have enough money for my daily needs," and "I don't like my work or classes." These nine items were summed together, with higher scores indicating more stressful conditions (α = .66).

Mediating Variables

Two adverse psychological effects are examined in the current study. First, *Depressive Symptoms:* Respondents were asked 8 questions to describe their depressive symptoms using a 4point Likert-type scale (I= strongly disagree, 4= strongly agree). The following questions were asked: "I usually wake up feeling pretty good," "I am so sad, sometimes I wonder why I bother to go on living," "I have thought about killing myself," and "I feel sad quite often," "I think good things will happen to me in the future," "I am generally in a good mood," "My life is generally going well," and "I enjoy my day-to-day life." Before combining the questions, some were reverse coded to match the consistency of the scale. These eight items were summed together, with higher scores indicating higher levels of depressive symptoms (α = .83).

Second, *Post-Traumatic Stress Symptoms (PTSS):* Respondents were asked a total of 8 questions to account for experienced and re-experienced trauma and avoidance. Respondents

were asked how much they agreed or disagreed based on a 4-point Likert-type scale (I = strongly disagree, 4 = strongly agree) with the following statements: "*I've been terrified by things that* have happened to me," "*I avoid doing anything that reminds me of terrible things that happened* to me," "*I am constantly looking for signs of danger*," "*I am easily startled*," "terrible things have happened to me that I remember over and over," "*I have bad dreams about terrible things* that happened to me," "*I try not to think about terrible things that happened to me*," and "terrible things happened to me that made me feel helpless and horrified." These eight items were summed together, with higher scores indicating higher PTSS (α = .73).

Control Variables:

Past studies have demonstrated a relationship between self-control (Turanovic & Pratt, 2014; Turanovic et al., 2015; Powers & Kaukinen, 2020), child sexual abuse (Meade et al., 2017; Kimber et al., 2018) and violence approval (Straus et al., 1980; Zavala & Muniz, 2020; Luo, 2021) with IPV victimization and are thus controlled in this study. Components developed by Gottfredson and Hirschi (1990) were identified to measure *self-control*. Using a 4-point Likert-type scale (*1= strongly disagree, 4= strongly agree*), respondents were asked 6 questions: "*There is nothing I can do to control my feelings when my partner hassles me,*" "*I don't think about what I do will affect other people,*" "*I often do things that other people think are dangerous,*" "*I have trouble following the rules at work or in school,*" "*I often get hurt by things that I do,*" and "*I have goals in life that I try to reach.*" These items were summed together, with higher scores indicating higher self-control (α = .64).

Child Sexual Abuse History was measured with the 8-item Sexual Abuse History measure from the Personal and Relationships Profile (PRP). Based on a 4-point Likert-type scale (*1*= *strongly disagree, 4*= *strongly agree*), respondents were asked to rate the following statements:

"Before I was 18, an adult in my family made me look at or touch his or her private parts (sex organs) or looked at or touched mine," "Before I was 18, an adult in my family had sex with me (vaginal, anal, or oral)," "Before I was 18, an adult who was not part of my family made me look at or touch his or her private parts (sex organs) or looked at or touched mine," "Before I was 18, an adult who was not part of my family had sex with me (vaginal, anal, or oral),"

"Before I was 18, another kid in my family made me look at or touch his or her private parts (sex organs) or looked at or touched mine," "Before I was 18, another kid in my family did things to me that I now think was sexual abuse," "Before I was 18, another kid who was not part of my family made me look at or touch his or her private parts (sex organs) or looked at or touched mine," and "Before I was 18, another kid who was not part of my famile, " and "Before I was 18, another kid who was not part of my famile," and "Before I was 18, another kid who was not part of my family did things to me that I now think was sexual abuse." The responses were summed and dichotomized, marking 1 as ever sexually abused and 0 as never sexually abused (α = .82).

Violence Approval was created by summing three subscales: family violence, male violence, and sexual aggression regarding the acceptance of physical force use in interpersonal situations. The same 4-point Likert-type scale (*I*= strongly disagree, *4*= strongly agree) when respondents rated the following statements: Family violence: "It is sometimes necessary to discipline a child with a good, hard spanking," "I can think of a situation when I would approve of a wife slapping a husband's face," "It is sometimes necessary for parents to slap a teen who talks back or is getting into trouble." Male violence: "When a boy is growing up, it's important for him to have a few fist fights," "A man should not walk away from a physical fight with another man," "A boy who is hit by another boy should hit back." Sexual aggression: "A woman who has been raped probably asked for it," "If a wife refuses to have sex, there are times when it may

be okay to make her do it," and "Once sex gets past a certain point, a man can't stop himself until he is satisfied." These responses were summed together, and higher scores indicated more significant violence approval (α = .70).

Demographic Variables

Two sociodemographic variables were included in the data analysis as control variables. Sex is a binary measure coded 1 for males and 0 for females. The variable Age is a continuous measure in years.

Analytical Plan

The analyses are conducted in four steps. First, descriptive statistics are presented to be able to provide an overall view of the distribution of the measures used. Second, a bivariate correlation matrix was designed to determine whether the dependent, independent, and control variables have statistically significant relationships. Third, using ordinary least squares (OLS) regression models, this study aims to determine whether stressful conditions influence the adverse psychological effects of PTSS and depression. Next, because the dependent variable (IPV victimization) is a dichotomous measure, logistic regression fits the appropriate statistical method to determine which independent variables are associated with the dependent variable (Weisburd & Britt, 2014). As a result, two models were analyzed. Model 1 will contain the main independent variable, plus the control variables. Model 2 will add the mediating variables. This method was used to identify whether statistical changes happen as new variables are added to the model. To avoid unstable regression estimates and to determine whether multicollinearity is a problem in the data, tolerance and variance inflation factors (VIF) were calculated. ¹ Lastly, a mediation analysis was conducted via PROCESS macro in SPSS for binary variables using

¹ All tolerances are above 0.20, and all VIFs are below 4, suggesting that multicollinearity is not a problem in the current study (Keith, 2015; Walker & Maddan, 2020).

bootstrapping (n= 5,000) to examine the significance of the indirect effects (Baron & Kenny, 1986; Hayes, 2017). This procedure was based on 95% confidence intervals (see Hayes, 2017).

Variable	Coded	Ν	Mean (%)	SD	Min/Max
Dependent Variable					
IPV Victimization	0= No	2790	(67.0)		
	1= Yes	1372	(33.0)		
Independent Variable					
Stressful Conditions	9-Items	4,162	17.5	3.6	9/31
Mediating Variables					
Depressive Symptoms	8-Items	4,162	14.2	3.9	8/32
PTSS	8-Items	4,162	17.9	4.1	8/32
Control Variables					
Self-Control	7-Items	4,162	19.9	2.5	10/24
Child Sexual Abuse	5-Items	4,162	10.7	3.9	8/32
Violence Approval	10-Items	4,162	19.3	4.2	10/36
Age	In Years	4,162	21.7	4.9	18/45
Sex	0= Female	3,074	(67.8)		
	1=Male	1,459	(32.2)		

Chapter 5: Results

Table 1 shows the descriptive statistics for all the variables in the current study. Regarding the dependent variable, about 33 % (n= 1,372) of respondents reported IPV victimization, while 67% of the sample (n=2,790) reported no IPV victimization. On the other hand, the independent variable, stressful conditions, has a mean of 17.5 on a scale ranging from 9 to 31. Turning our attention to the mediating variables, depressive symptoms has a mean of 14.2 on a scale ranging from 8 to 32, while post-traumatic stress symptoms (PTSS) has a mean of 17.9 on a scale ranging from 8 to 32. Turning the attention to the control variables, self-control, has a mean of 19.9 on a scale ranging from 10 to 24. Child sexual abuse has an average of 10.7 on a scale ranging from 8 to 32, whereas violence approval has an average of 19.3 on a scale ranging from 18 to 45. Lastly, the demographic variables reveal that the majority of respondents are female (68.8%), and the average sample age is 21.7 years old.

Vari	ables	X1	X2	Х3	X4	X5	X6	X7	X8	X9
X1	IPV Victimization									
X2	Stressful Conditions	.217 *	*							
Х3	Depression	.165 *	* .559 *	*						
X4	PTSD	.179 *	*.441 *	* .433 '	**					
X5	Self-Control	201 *	*587 *	*505 *	**348 *	*				
X6	Child Sexual Abuse	.126 *	* .275 *	* .267 [•]	** .339 *	**282 **				
X7	Violence Approval	.200 *	* .388 *	* .216 *	** .214 *	**439 **	.216 **			
X8	Sex	017	189 *	*039 '	** .033 *	* .272 **	002	235 *	**	
X9	Age	.012	031 *	034 '	* .004	.047 **	.130 **	036 *	** .015	

Note: ** p < .01 , *p < .05.

Table 2 shows the bivariate correlation matrix consisting of all the variables used in the analysis, and this table revealed several significant relationships between the independent, dependent, and control variables. Mainly, stressful conditions was significantly related to IPV victimization with a positive relationship (r= .217). Therefore, as hypothesized, reporting higher levels of stressful conditions is more likely to increase the likelihood of IPV victimization at the bivariate level. Focusing on the mediating variables, both depressive symptoms and PTSS emerged as significant. These results indicate that increases in depressive symptoms increased IPV victimization (r= .165) at the bivariate level.

Similarly, an increase in PTSS was significantly correlated at the bivariate level with an increased risk of IPV victimization, reporting a positive relationship (r= .179). Regarding the control variables, results show that child sexual abuse is also significant (r= .126), along with violence approval (r= .200). Respondents with previous child sexual abuse and violence approval were more likely to report IPV victimization. However, the relationships between sex and age were non-significant. Finally, stressful conditions was significantly related to depressive symptoms (r= .559) and post-traumatic stress symptoms (r= .441), demonstrating a moderate positive relationship for both. Individuals experiencing depressive and post-traumatic stress symptoms are more likely to report IPV victimization at the bivariate level. In general, the correlations between the dependent, independent, and mediating variables were all statistically significant and in the predicted direction. In addition, Table 2 was closely monitored to detect problems with multicollinearity. Correlations above \pm .70 are problematic for multicollinearity (Bachman, Paternoster, & Wilson, 2021). Based on the correlation results from Table 2, multicollinearity does not appear to represent a problem for the analysis in the current study.

	Depres	sive Sympt	PTSS	
	Model 1 Model 2		Model 3	Model 4
	B SE Beta	a B SE Beta	B SE Beta	B SE Beta
Stressful Conditions	.603* .014 .559	.434**' .017 .402	.505** .016 .441	.374*** .019 .327
Child Sexual Abuse		.094**'.013 .095		.226*** .015 .215
Violence Approval		056** .013060		.024 .015 .215
Self- Control		453** .024298		198*** .028122
Sex		934** .107112		-1.23*** .124138
Age		017 .010022		012 .011014
Model Fit				
F- statistic	1894.4	434.1	1004.8	245.9
R ²	.313	.385	.195	.271

Table 3: OLS regression predicting depressive symptoms and PTSS (n = 4,162)

p < .01; *p < .001

Table 3 presents the results from the OLS regression models examining the link between stressful conditions predicting depression and post-traumatic stress symptoms. Models 1 and 2 examine the direct relationship between stressful conditions and depressive symptoms with and without statistical controls. Models 3 and 4 illustrate the relationship between stressful conditions and PTSS with and without statistical controls. Consistent with target congruency theory and in support of hypotheses 2 and 3, results show that individuals with higher scores of stressful conditions were significantly more likely to show depressive symptoms and PTSS than individuals who had less stressful conditions. Considering all else constant, on average, stressful conditions increased depressive symptoms by 0.434 units and PTSS by 0.374 units.

	Model 1				Model 2				
Variables	В	SE	OR		В	SE	OR		
Independent									
Stressful Conditions	.079	.012	1.08	***	.060	.013	1.06	* * *	
Mediating Variables									
Depression	-	-	-		.010	.011	1.01		
PTSS	-	-	-		.042	.010	1.04	* * *	
Control Variables									
Self-Control	069	.017	0.933	* * *	058	.018	.944	* *	
Child Sex Abuse	.022	.009	1.022		.012	.009	1.01		
Violence Approval	.068	.009	1.071	* * *	.069	.009	1.07	* * *	
Age	.008	.007	1.01		.009	.007	1.01		
Sex	283	.078	.753	* * *	223	.079	.800	* *	
Constant	-2.41	.560	.090	* * *	-3.134	.598	.044	* * *	
-2 Log likelihood	4969.551				4948.834				
Cox & Snell R		.0	71	.076					
Nagelkerke R	.099				.105				

Table 4: Logistic Regression of Interpersonal Violence (n = 4,162)

p < .01; *p < .001

Table 4 presents the results from a series of logistic regression analyses used to examine the relationship between the dependent variable regressed on stressful conditions, while also looking at the control and demographic variables. Regarding the independent variable, Model 1 of Table 4 shows stressful conditions as statistically significant. A one-unit increase in stressful conditions was positively associated with an 8% increase in the odds of IPV victimization (Odds Ration [OR]= 1.08). In terms of the control and demographic variables, starting with self-control, this variable was a negative significant predictor of IPV victimization. Specifically, a one-unit increase in self-control was associated with a 7% decrease in the odds of IPV victimization (OR = 0.93). Violence approval, along with sex, were also statistically significant predictors of the dependent variable. Respectively, higher levels of violence approval resulted as a positive predictor because respondents with higher levels of violence approval were 7% more likely to report IPV victimization than respondents with lower levels of violence approval (OR = 1.07). On the other hand, sex was a negative predictor as male respondents were associated with a 25% decrease in odds of IPV victimization compared to female respondents (OR = 0.75). No other significant variables in Model 1 were shown.

Moreover, target congruency theory argues that an individual's characteristics might increase victimization; for instance, being under stress or experiencing psychological effects, increases the vulnerability of an individual and, therefore, the likelihood of victimization increases. To test this, Model 2 of Table 4 contains the same variables as the previous model with an addition of the mediating variables. Based on Model 2 of Table 4, respondents who reported higher levels of stressful conditions had a 6% increase in odds of reporting IPV victimization ([OR] = 1.06). Thus, stressful conditions remained a statistically significant predictor of IPV victimization. Looking at the mediating variables, depressive symptoms showed

a nonsignificant effect. On the contrary, PTSS was found statistically significant. Respondents who reported PTSS had 4% greater odds of indicating IPV victimization, making it a positive predictor of IPV victimization (OR = 1.04).

Furthermore, results from this model also show that violence approval remained positive and significant in predicting IPV victimization. Then, self-control was again negative and statistically significant in predicting IPV victimization. Specifically, a unit increase in selfcontrol is associated with a 6% decrease in the likelihood of IPV victimization (OR = .94). Lastly, looking at the demographic variables in Model 2 of Table 4, age remained nonsignificant, but sex was the last significant predictor, in which males are 20% less likely to report IPV victimization than females (OR = .80).

In line with target congruence theory and hypothesis 3, model 2 demonstrates that stressful conditions and PTSS remained statistically significant in predicting the dependent variable. Based on this model, the odds of IPV victimization are 10% higher for individuals who experience stressful conditions. In addition, with one unit increase in PTSS, the odds of IPV victimization increase by 5% (OR = 1.05). On the other hand, depression had no significant effect once again. As a result, the findings partially support hypothesis 4.

				9	95% Confidence Interval
Relationship	Effect	SE	LLCI	ULCI	p-value
Stressful Conditions -> PTSS -> IPV victimization	.0523	.0095	.0336	.0711	.000

Table 5: Mediation Analyses of IPV Victimization (n = 4,162)

Note. IPV= Intimate Partner Violence; PTSS= post-traumatic stress symptoms; LLCI= lower level confidence

interval; ULCI= upper level confidence interval

The mediation analyses were conducted to establish the significance of stressful life conditions and IPV victimization through a mediating relationship between psychological effects. Table 5 reports the results of the mediation analyses. To start, the first indirect effect of stressful conditions on IPV victimization, ignoring the mediator, is statistically significant (β = .0974, 95% CI = [.0740, .1207]). Here, stressful conditions directly affect IPV victimization. Tied to target congruence theory, such effects lead to an individual becoming an easier and more vulnerable target. Next, PTSS demonstrated a mediating effect in which the indirect effect of stressful conditions on IPV victimization via PTSS is statistically significant (β = .0523, 95% CI = [.0336, .0711]). In other words, PTSS mediates the relationship between stressful conditions and IPV victimization. Lastly, in parallel with previous models, depressive symptoms showed no significance.

In summary, these results partially support hypothesis 4; adverse psychological effects, specifically PTSS, mediate the relationship between stressful conditions and IPV victimization. Taken together, this model shows a partial mediating effect. Experiencing stressful conditions leads to feelings of PTSS, which leads to a likelihood of experiencing IPV victimization. On the other hand, depressive symptoms are not a mediator between stressful conditions and IPV victimization, contradicting Hypothesis 4; the relationship between stressful conditions and IPV victimization was only mediated by PTSS.

Chapter 6: Discussion

Prior research has linked both psychological effects and stressful conditions to victimization (Eitle & Turner, 2002; Silver & Kelsay, 2021). Although there is limited information regarding the mediation process of victimization, previous research has supported the idea that people under stress are more likely to develop psychological symptoms, such as anxiety, depression, and PTSD, among others, and therefore, the likelihood of victimization is more likely for people with these conditions (Yim & Kofman, 2019; Silver & Kelsay, 2021). Nonetheless, a lack of research regarding mediating relationships remains unexplored. Silver and Kelsay (2021) developed and supported a mediating pathway of a violent victimization framework stating that psychological effects indirectly link stressful life events to violent victimization. Despite the support, this framework was solely tied to violent victimization in general, but not to a specific type of victimization that is widespread in our society, such as IPV victimization. With this limitation in mind, this study aimed to explore whether similar results emerge from stressful conditions, psychological effects, and IPV victimization by analyzing data from the *International Dating Violence Study* (*n*=4,162).

First, hypothesis 1 tested the notion that stressful conditions would be positively associated with IPV victimization. Based on the results of this study, reporting stressful conditions was positively associated with IPV victimization. Thus, this supports hypothesis 1 as it was found that the odds of IPV victimization increase as stressful conditions increase. This notion echoes back to research on stress and victimization (Brown & Fite, 2016; Eitle & Turner, 2002; Silver & Kelsay, 2021). Recall that Finkelhor and Asdigian (1996) argue that a person's susceptibility to victimization depends on their attributes and characteristics. In short, target vulnerability, such as stress and psychological problems, makes someone a more suitable target. However, Silver and Kelsay (2021) maintain that stressful conditions by itself are not the sole cause of victimization, but rather stressful conditions lead to various adverse psychological effects, which then increase a person's odds of victimization. This is the basis for the next study hypotheses.

In line with hypotheses 2 and 3, the assumption was that stressful conditions will be positively associated with both PTSS and depressive symptoms. Models 1 and 2 from Table 3 indicated that experiencing stressful conditions resulted in a positive relationship between PTSS and depressive symptoms, finding support for the hypotheses. Furthermore, hypothesis 4 tested the assumption that adverse psychological effects, in this case, PTSS and depressive symptoms, will mediate the association between stressful conditions and IPV victimization. The results of this study are partially in agreement with hypothesis 4. Models 1 and 2 from the logistic regression analyses in Table 4 found that only stressful conditions and PTSS remained significant factors of IPV victimization, as depressive symptoms did not emerge as significant. Even though depressive symptoms did not reveal significant effects, perhaps this could be due because of the differences in interpersonal stressors, or that those with high levels of depression are more likely to be withdrawn or in reclusion and, thus, outside the reach of a motivated offender who may use violence against them, reducing their odds of victimization. Nevertheless, future research should continue considering the psychological effects, and the way victims deal with their victimization should still be studied further, considering the literature on victims experiencing higher rates of depression, among other adverse health effects (Swearer et al., 2001; Breiding et al., 2008; Dutton et al., 2006; Sweeting et al., 2006).

Referring back to PTSS as the only significant mediating variable, such findings are not surprising. As previously mentioned, research has well established a link between stress and

victimization (Brown & Fite, 2016). Starting in childhood, exposure to stressful life events leaves subjection to maladaptive outcomes (i.e., anxiety levels), impacting a child's developmental trajectory, including peer relationships (Brown & Fite, 2016; Pynoos et al., 1999; Yates et al., 2004). Similarly to precocious exits theory, these adaptations to stressful circumstances result in difficulties later in life (Haynie et al., 2009). Given the continuous statistical support for the effect of stressful conditions, the study findings reinforced what research has established on stress and IPV victimization (Swearer et al., 2001; Silver, 2002; Yim & Kofman, 2019; Silver & Kelsay, 2021). Accordingly, stressful conditions and PTSS might increase an individual's vulnerability and, thus, become an easier target (Finkelhor & Asdigian, 1996). Suppose PTSS is a positive predictor of IPV victimization, and being under stress is perceivable as an easy target. In that case, it is important to continue exploring the implications and conditions of IPV to provide effective prevention and victim services and improve policy to intervene and protect those who can be or have been affected by this major problem.

Overall, Hypotheses 1, 2, and 3 highlighted the significance of stressful situations and advocated for a fundamental policy response to be developed. For example, it would be beneficial for interventions to develop classes or trainings that primarily aid with coping mechanisms and techniques on how to deal with internalized behavior, such as stress. This could potentially increase awareness of the need to minimize stress. Additionally, these training courses should also consider developmental stages and how an individual's pathway changes in attitudes and behavior because of their victimization. Future research should continue to explore the stages of someone experiencing IPV victimization, especially to target better intervention and prevention practices. Although Hypothesis 4 was partially supported, PTSS mediated the relationship between stressful conditions and IPV victimization. Such findings set the direction

for other programs necessary in the prevention of IPV victimization. More specifically, since the sample was composed of college students, another form of a policy program is to offer support groups and a multidimensional dating violence prevention program at universities for victims. The primary objective should be to improve education about IPV by focusing on a traumainformed approach to teach risk-behaviors and early warning signs of violence perpetration, while also teaching healthy dating characteristics and relationships. And by providing support groups and programs, victims may also seek support in an environment where they feel understood.

Limitations

Given a number of caveats, current findings should be interpreted with caution. First, the survey from the dataset did not include a section for a participant's race or ethnicity; it is a possibility that racial and ethnic groups have different experiences and perspectives regarding their victimization. However, because of the lack of race or ethnicity measure, this study and others using the dataset are missing that information. Future research should consider whether different results emerge between races and ethnicities. It is important to consider those variables, especially considering that various experiences could emerge from different life experiences. Therefore, it is necessary for future studies to explore diverse experiences of IPV victims to see whether there are commonalities across racial and ethnic groups. Second, because this study is focused on the U.S. subsample and despite having a large sample (n=4,162), the majority consisted of undergraduates in the social sciences. Thus, the results should be cautious in generalization to the general population and people outside the age range of this study. It is possible, for example, that different results could emerge in different age groups outside of the college students and young adults from the sample.

Similarly, the third limitation is that this study only looked at heterosexual dating relationships. IPV research primarily focuses on heterosexual relationships, despite research finding that same-sex relationships have unique risk markers for IPV (Kimmes et al., 2019). Silver and Kelsay's (2021) theoretical perspective may be especially pertinent in explaining same-sex IPV given that recent studies have found that non-heterosexual members report high levels of adverse psychological effects (Price et al., 2023). Future studies should take into account these variables, including race, ethnicity, and same-sex relationships, to further examine the impacts of IPV on a more representative sample and to further explore the varied experiences, if any, of IPV victims. Fourth, considering the cross-sectional nature of the data, causal relationships cannot be established. For instance, there is a possibility that depression can create stressful conditions. That is, if a person is feeling depressive symptoms, that could lead to experiencing stressful conditions rather than stressful conditions leading to depressive symptoms. Longitudinal data with random sampling should be used to examine these variables in mind and their effects further. Fifth, because the survey comes from self-reported data, undisclosed information might affect the accuracy of reported experiences. Although researchers assure participants of their anonymity, underreporting is still a concern since it could be possible that some respondents may not have disclosed their victimization.

Chapter 7: Conclusion

Overall, this study partially supports Silver and Kelsay's (2021) theoretical framework in the context of IPV victimization. The current study explores the mediating pathway between stressful conditions and IPV victimization via depressive symptoms and PTSS from dating violence among U.S. college students. Given the limited research on mediating pathways in victimization, this research highlights the importance of such factors within IPV victimization. In addition, this study suggests that stressful conditions increase the likelihood of IPV victimization. Results indicate that stressful life conditions increase PTSS and IPV victimization, thus supporting a mediating relationship. As suggested by target congruence theory, individuals experiencing high levels of stressful conditions are more likely to report PTSS, leading to their IPV victimization. Even after adding variables, table 4 revealed a strong statistical significance between stressful conditions and PTSS. Accordingly, such results highlight that PTSS is a strong predictor of IPV. Nonetheless, certain limitations impede causal relationships between the variables in the study. With the high prevalence of intimate partner victimization and its widespread consequences, future research should address such limitations to reduce this type of victimization and better assist victims.

References

- Bachman, R. D., Paternoster, R., & Wilson, T. H. (2021). Statistics for criminology and criminal justice. SAGE Publications.
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. Journal of personality and social psychology, 51(6), 1173.
- Baron, S. W., Forde, D. R., & Kay, F. M. (2007). Self-control, risky lifestyles, and situation: The role of opportunity and context in the general theory. Journal of Criminal Justice, 35(2), 119-136.
- Basile, K. C., Black, M. C., Breiding, M. J., Chen, J., Merrick, M. T., Smith, S. G., Stevens, MR. & Walters, M. L. (2011). The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS):
 2010 Summary Report. National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- Bouffard, L. A., & Koeppel, M. D. (2014). Understanding the potential long-term physical and mental health consequences of early victimization experiences. *Justice Quarterly*, *31*(3), 568-587.
- Boudreaux, E., Kilpatrick, G., Resnick, H. S., Best, C. L., & Saunders, B. E. (1998). Criminal victimization, posttraumatic stress disorder, and comorbid psychopathology among a community sample of women. Journal of Traumatic Stress: Official Publication of The International Society for Traumatic Stress Studies, 11(4), 665–678.
- Breiding, M. J., Black, M. C., & Ryan, G. W. (2008). Prevalence and risk factors of intimate partner violence in eighteen US states/territories, 2005. American journal of preventive medicine, 34(2), 112-118.
- Britt, C. L. (2001). Health consequences of criminal victimization. *International Review of Victimology*, 8(1), 63–73.

- Brown, S., & Fite, P. J. (2016). Stressful life events predict peer victimization: Does anxiety account for this link? *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 25(8), 2616–2625. (1)
- Bybee, D., & Sullivan, C. M. (2005). Predicting re-victimization of battered women 3 years after exiting a shelter program. American journal of community psychology, 36(1), 85–96.
- Carbone-Lopez, K., & Miller, J. (2012). Precocious role entry as a mediating factor in women's methamphetamine use: Implications for life-course and pathways research. Criminology, 50(1), 187-220.
- Cattaneo, L. B., Bell, M. E., Goodman, L. A., & Dutton, M. A. (2007). Intimate partner violence victims' accuracy in assessing their risk of re-abuse. Journal of Family Violence, 22(6), 429–440.
- Cava, M. J., Buelga, S., & Tomás, I. (2021). Peer victimization and dating violence victimization: The mediating role of loneliness, depressed mood, and life satisfaction. Journal of interpersonal violence, 36(5-6), 2677–2702.
- Cohen, L. E., & Marcus Felson. (1979). Social change and crime rate trends: A routine activity approach. American Sociological Review 44:588–608.
- Dolliver, M. J., Kenney, J. L., & Williams Reid, L. (2022). Assessing the Relationships Between Past
 Victimization, Perceived Risk of Future Victimization, and Controversial Criminal Justice
 Policies Using Structural Equation Modeling. Criminal justice policy review, 33(1), 74–98.
- Dutton, M. A., Green, B. L., Kaltman, S. I., Roesch, D. M., Zeffiro, T. A., & Krause, E. D. (2006). Intimate partner violence, PTSD, and adverse health outcomes. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 21(7), 955-968.

Eitle, D., & Turner, R. J. (2002). Exposure to community violence and young adult crime: The effects of witnessing violence, traumatic victimization, and other stressful life events. Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency, 39(2), 214-237. (2)

Elder, Glen H., Jr. (1998). The life course as developmental theory.child development 69:1–12.

- Elvey, K., & McNeeley, S. (2019). Target congruence as a means of understanding risk of intimate partner violence: A comparison of male and female college students in the United States. Crime & Delinquency, 65(13), 1823-1849.
- Fissel, E. R., Graham, A., Butler, L. C., & Fisher, B. S. (2021). A new frontier: The development and validation of the intimate partner cyber abuse instrument. *Social Science Computer Review*, 0894439321994618.
- Fagan, A. A., & Mazerolle, P. (2011). Repeat offending and repeat victimization: Assessing similarities and differences in psychosocial risk factors. Crime & Delinquency, 57(5), 732-755.
- Finkelhor, D., & Asdigian, N. L. (1996). Risk factors for youth victimization: Beyond a lifestyles/routine activities theory approach. Violence and Victims, 11, 3-20.
- Finkelhor, D., Ormrod, R. K., & Turner, H. A. (2007). Re-victimization patterns in a national longitudinal sample of children and youth. Child Abuse & Neglect, 31, 479–502
- Flanagan, J. C., Jaquier, V., Overstreet, N., Swan, S. C., & Sullivan, T. P. (2014). The mediating role of avoidance coping between intimate partner violence (IPV) victimization, mental health, and substance abuse among women experiencing bidirectional IPV. Psychiatry Research, 220(1-2), pp. 391–396.
- Graham, L. M., Jensen, T. M., Givens, A. D., Bowen, G. L., & Rizo, C. F. (2019). Intimate partner violence among same-sex couples in college: A propensity score analysis. Journal of interpersonal violence, 34(8), 1583–1610.

- Hayes, A. F. (2017). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: A regression-based approach (2nd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Haynie, D. L., Petts, R. J., Maimon, D., & Piquero, A. R. (2009). Exposure to violence in adolescence and precocious role exits. Journal of youth and adolescence, 38(3), 269-286.
- Hochstetler, A., DeLisi, M., Jones-Johnson, G., & Johnson, W. R. (2014). The Criminal Victimization–
 Depression Sequela: Examining the Effects of Violent Victimization on Depression With a
 Longitudinal Propensity Score Design. Crime & Delinquency, 60(5), 785–806.
- Iratzoqui, A. (2018). Strain and opportunity: A theory of repeat victimization. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *33*, 1366–1387.
- Keith, T. Z. (2015). Multiple regression and beyond: An introduction to multiple regression and structural equation modeling (2nd ed.). Routledge.
- Kimber, M., Adham, S., Gill, S., McTavish, J., & MacMillan, H. L. (2018). The association between child exposure to intimate partner violence (IPV) and perpetration of IPV in adulthood—A systematic review. *Child abuse & neglect*, pp. 76, 273–286.
- Kimmes, J. G., Mallory, A. B., Spencer, C., Beck, A. R., Cafferky, B., & Stith, S. M. (2019). A metaanalysis of risk markers for intimate partner violence in same-sex relationships. Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 20(3), 374-384.
- Kretschmer, T. (2016). What explains the correlates of peer victimization? A systematic review of mediating factors. *Adolescent Research Review*, 1(4), 341-356.
- Kuhl, D. C., Warner, D. F., & Warner, T. D. (2015). Intimate partner violence risk among victims of youth violence: are early unions harmful, beneficial, or benign? Criminology, 53(3), 427-456.

- Lipsky, S., Caetano, R., Field, C. A., & Bazargan, S. (2005). The role of alcohol use and depression in intimate partner violence among black and Hispanic patients in an urban emergency department. The American journal of drug and alcohol abuse, 31(2), 225-242.
- Luo, X. (2021). Gender and dating violence perpetration and victimization: A comparison of American and Chinese college students. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 36(11–12), pp. 5581–5607.
- Lysova, A. V., & Douglas, E. M. (2008). Intimate partner violence among male and female Russian University students. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 23(11), 1579–1599.
- Lysova, A., & Straus, M. A. (2021). Intimate partner violence: A multinational test of cultural spillover theory. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 36(15–16), 7942–7970.
- Meade, C.N., Jennings, W.G., Gover, A.R. & Richards, T.N. (2017). "On the linkage between sexual violence victimization and intimate partner violence outcomes among male and female college students," Journal of Aggression, Conflict and Peace Research, Vol. 9 No. 4, pp. 257–268. https://doi.org/10.1108/JACPR-05-2017-0289
- Morgan, R.E., & Oudekerk, B.A. (2019). Criminal victimization, 2018. Bureau of Justice Statistics.
- O'Leary, D. K. (1988). Physical aggression between spouses: A social learning theory perspective. In V.
 B. VanHasselt, R. L. Morrison, A. S. Bellack, & M. Hersen (Eds.), Handbook of family violence (pp. 31–55). New York: Plenum.
- Park, I., & Cho, S. (2021). Influences of target congruence and lifestyles on victimization trajectories: An Autoregressive Latent Trajectory Modeling approach to overlap between bullying and victimization. Journal of Adolescence, 92, 57-74.
- Pease, K. (1998). Repeat Victimisation: Taking stock (Vol. 90). London: Home Office Police Research Group.

- Powers, R. A., & Kaukinen, C. E. (2020). Gender differences in the relationship between sexual activity and dating violence: The role of satisfaction, jealousy, and self-control. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 088626052098327.
- Pratt, T. C., Turanovic, J. J., Fox, K. A., & Wright, K. A. (2014). Self-control and victimization: A meta-analysis. Criminology, pp. 52, 87–116.
- Price, M. N., Green, A. E., DeChants, J. P., & Davis, C. K. (2023). Physical Dating Violence Victimization among LGBTQ Youth: Disclosure and Association with Mental Health. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 08862605231162655.
- Pynoos, R. S., Steinberg, A. M., & Piacentini, J. C. (1999). A developmental psychopathology model of childhood traumatic stress and intersection with anxiety disorders. Biological Psychiatry, 46(11), 1542–1554.
- Rennison, C. M. (2003). Intimate partner violence, 1993-2001. Washington, DC: US Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Bureau of Justice Statistics.
- Resick, P. A. (1987). Psychological effects of victimization: Implications for the criminal justice system. *Crime & Delinquency*, *33*(4), 468-478.
- Sabina, C., Schally, J. L., & Marciniec, L. (2017). Problematic alcohol and drug use and the risk of partner violence victimization among male and female college students. *Journal of family violence*, 32(3), 305-316.
- Sampson, Robert J., and John H. Laub. (1997). A life-course theory of cumulative disadvantage and the stability of delinquency. Advances in Criminological Theory7:1–29.
- Sandberg, D. A., Valdez, C. E., Engle, J. L., & Menghrajani, E. (2019). Attachment anxiety as a risk factor for subsequent intimate partner violence victimization: A 6-month prospective study among college women. Journal of interpersonal violence, 34(7), 1410-1427.

- Silver, E. (2002). Mental disorder and violent victimization: the mediating role of involvement in conflicted social relationships. Criminology, 40(1), 191–212.
- Silver, I. A., & Kelsay, J. D. (2021). Examining an Indirect Pathway from the Variety of Stressful Life Events to Violent Victimization through Acquired Psychological Symptoms. Justice Quarterly, 1-30.
- Straus, M. A., Gelles, R. J., & Steinmetz, S. K. (1980). Behind closed doors: Violence in the American family. Garden City: Anchor Press.
- Straus, M. A., Hamby, S. L., Boney-McCoy, S., & Sugarman, D. B. (1996). The Revised Conflict Tactics Scales (CTS2): Development and preliminary psychometric data. Journal of Family Issues, 17(3), 283–316.
- Straus, M. A. (2004). Prevalence of violence against dating partners by male and female university students worldwide. Violence against Women, 10, 790–811.
- Straus, M. (2001–2006). International dating violence study (2001–2006). Interuniversity Consortium for Political and Social Research [Distributor]. <u>https://doi.org/10.3886/ICPSR29583.v1</u>
- Stubbs, A., & Szoeke, C. (2021). The effect of intimate partner violence on the physical health and health-related behaviors of women: A systematic review of the literature. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, 1524838020985541.
- Sween, M., & Reyns, B. W. (2017). An empirical test of target congruence theory on intimate partner violence. Deviant Behavior, 38(1), 61-73.
- Swearer, S. M., Song, S. Y., Cary, P. T., Eagle, J. W., & Mickelson, W. T. (2001). Psychosocial correlates in bullying and victimization: The relationship between depression, anxiety, and bully/victim status. Journal of Emotional Abuse, 2(2-3), pp. 95–121.

- Sweeting, H., Young, R., West, P., & Der, G. (2006). Peer victimization and depression in early-midadolescence: A longitudinal study. *British journal of educational psychology*, *76*(3), 577–594.
- Tjaden, P. G. (2000). Extent, nature, and consequences of intimate partner violence. US Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, National Institute of Justice.
- Tomsich, E., Jennings, W. G., Richards, T. N., Gover, A. R., & Powers, R. A. (2017). Childhood physical maltreatment and young adult dating violence: A propensity matching approach. Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 32(22), 3496–3575.
- Truman, J. L., & Morgan, R. E. (2014). Nonfatal domestic violence. Washington, DC: US Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics.
- Truman, J. L., Langton, L., & Planty, M. (2015). Criminal victimization, 2015. Washington, DC.
- Turanovic, J. J., & Pratt, T. C. (2014). "Can't stop, won't stop": Self-control, risky lifestyles, and repeat victimization. Journal of quantitative criminology, 30(1), 29-56.
- Turanovic, J. J., Reisig, M. D., & Pratt, T. C. (2015). Risky lifestyles, low self-control, and violent victimization across gendered pathways to crime. Journal of Quantitative Criminology, 31(2), 183-206.
- Walker, J. T., & Maddan, S. (2020). Statistics in criminology and criminal justice (5th ed.). Jones & Bartlett Learning
- Waltermaurer, E. (2005). Measuring intimate partner violence (IPV) you may only get what you ask for. Journal of interpersonal violence, 20(4), 501-506.

Weisburd, D., & Britt, C. (2014). Statistics in criminal justice (4th ed.). New York, NY: Springer

Webermann, A. R., Maldonado, A., Singh, R., Torres, S., Bushee, S., & Murphy, C. M. (2020). Centrality of traumatic events and men's intimate partner violence perpetration. Psychological trauma: theory, research, practice, and policy, 12(2), 200. World Health Organization. (2012). Understanding and addressing violence against women: Intimate partner violence. World Health Organization.

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/77433/WHO_RHR_12.35_eng.pdf

- World Health Organization. (2021). *Violence against women*. World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact sheets/detail/violence-against-women
- White, M. C., Chafetz, L., Collins-Bride, G., & Nickens, J. (2006). History of arrest, incarceration, and victimization in community-based severely mentally ill. Journal of Community Health, 31(2), 123-135.
- Yates, T. M. (2004). The developmental psychopathology of self injurious behavior: Compensatory regulation in posttraumatic adaptation. Clinical Psychology Review, 24(1), 35–74.
- Yim, I. S., & Kofman, Y. B. (2019). The psychobiology of stress and intimate partner violence. Psychoneuroendocrinology, 105, 9-24.
- You, J.-I., & Bellmore, A. (2012). Relational peer victimization and psychosocial adjustment: The mediating role of best friendship qualities. Personal Relationships, 19(2), 340–353.
- Zavala, E. (2018). Target congruence theory and the victim-offender overlap among male youths. Victims & Offenders, 13(7), 1013–1032.
- Zavala, E., & Muniz, C. N. (2020). The influence of religious involvement on intimate partner violence victimization via routine activities theory. Journal of Interpersonal Violence. https://doi. org/10.1177/0886260520922375.

Vita

Valeria Torres- Rivera was born in El Paso, Texas, and lived there for the majority of her life. In 2020, Valeria graduated with Cum Laude -Honors from the University of Texas at El Paso (UTEP) with her Bachelor of Arts degree in Criminal Justice and began the Master of Science program in Criminal Justice and Criminology at the same university. She pursued the thesis track under the supervision of Dr. Zavala. While working on her thesis, she presented the preliminary results at the American Society of Criminology (ASC) conference in 2022. During her studies, she was granted the opportunity to collect data by interviewing justice-involved people at the El Paso correctional facilities for a NIJ-funded project for Dr. Jennifer Eno Louden and Dr. Theodore Curry. Upon graduation, she accepted an offer to a PhD program in the Fall of 2023.